RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONDEN11-2018

DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP000563 Circuit Court Case No. 2016CV000378

JAMES P. MORAN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Respondent-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FINAL DECISION AND JUDGMENT ENTERED FEBRUARY 8, 2018 BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CHIPPEWA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JUDGE JAMES M. ISAACSON PRESIDING, WHICH AFFIRMED THE ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT JAMES P. MORAN

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- Do article I, § 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution require the Department of Justice to recognize the restoration of Moran's rights by the Governor and Circuit Court of Virginia? The Department of Justice answered: No.
- 2. Does the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United States Constitution require Wisconsin to recognize Virginia's restoration of Moran's civil and firearm rights?

The Department of Justice answered: No.

3. Can § 941.29 of the Wisconsin Statutes be construed in harmony with the United States Constitution, the Wisconsin Constitution and The Federal Firearms Owners Protection Act so as to give effect to its original remedial purpose?

The Department of Justice answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The decision in this appeal should be published because it is a case of first impression and will enunciate a new rule of law or clarify existing statutes. Section 809.23(1)(a)1, Stats. This decision should also be published because it decides a case of substantial and continuing public interest. Section

809.23(1)(a)5, Stats. The appellant believes that oral argument may be helpful to understand some of the nuances of this unusual case.

INTRODUCTION

Wisconsin has a long and rich heritage of allowing its citizens to possess and use firearms. That tradition is emphatically and unambiguously enshrined as the public policy of Wisconsin in article I, § 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution:

> "The people have the right to keep and bear arms for security, defense, hunting, recreation or any other lawful purpose."

That section reflects the rights embodied in the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and is even more expansive in its enumeration of the right to keep and bear arms for specific reasons, as well as for any other lawful purpose.

Like other constitutional rights, the courts have determined that the right to bear arms is not absolute, but may be subject to certain reasonable limitations. District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 626, 128 S.Ct. 2783, 171 L.Ed.2d 637 (2008). Both the federal and state governments enacted statutes which prohibited felons whose rights had not been restored from lawfully possessing firearms. See 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(1); § 941.29(1m)(b), Stats.

However, both federal and Wisconsin law recognize that not all persons who commit a crime are beyond redemption or rehabilitation and permit the restoration of civil rights, including the possession of firearms, to persons who pose no threat or danger to the community. That is in accord with the public policy of article I, § 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Second Amendment to the United States Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal pursuant to Section 227.58 of the Wisconsin Statutes to review the final judgment of the Circuit Court of Chippewa County which denied James P. Moran's Petition for Judicial Review (R.36; App. 3-5) and affirmed the administrative decision of the Department of Justice (R.2; R.6; App. 1-2), which had denied Moran's application to purchase a handgun based on a 1995 Virginia conviction for which Moran has had all of his civil rights restored by the Governor (R.13: A.R. 167; App. 6) and Circuit Court of Loudoun County, Virginia. (R.3; R.12: 111-112; App. 7-8)

STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a circuit court's order affirming the decision of an administrative agency, the Department of Justice (hereinafter "DOJ"). (R.2; R.6; App. 1-2) Accordingly, this Court reviews the decision of that administrative agency, not that of the circuit court. <u>Lopez v. Labor and</u> <u>Industry Review Com'n</u>, 2002 WI App 63, 252 Wis. 2d 476, 642 N.W.2d 561. Because the agency's action was based on an incorrect interpretation of the law, this Court reviews the agency's action *de novo*. <u>Kelley Co. v. Marquardt</u>, 172 Wis. 2d 234, 244, 493 N.W.2d 68, 73 (1992). The agency's decision is entitled to no deference by this Court. <u>County of Dane v. Labor and Industry</u> <u>Review Com'n</u>, 2009 WI 9, ¶¶ 14-18, 315 Wis. 2d 293, 759 N.W.2d 571. This Court shall set aside or modify the agency action if it finds that the agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels a particular action, or it shall remand the case to the agency for further action under a correct interpretation of the provision of law. <u>See</u> Section 227.57(5), Stats.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There were no material factual disputes in the proceedings before the agency. Those facts are set forth as follows:

- 1. James P. Moran is a 68-year-old resident of Chippewa County, Wisconsin, who moved to Wisconsin from Virginia when his wife retired. (R.1:2)
- 2. Moran ran his own sales business for 22 years and is now semi-retired. (R.1:2)
- 3. Moran and his wife purchased a parcel of land in Bloomer, Wisconsin, in 2008, with the intention to someday build a home and retire there; they realized that goal in August of 2016. (R.1:2-3)

- 4. While previously living in Virginia, Moran was greatly involved with community service activities and held the position of Treasurer at his local church. (R.1:3)
- 5. Over two decades ago, in 1995, Moran was convicted in Virginia of one felony count of misappropriating funds greater than \$250.00, and was placed on probation. (R.1:3) The offense was strictly a property crime, not involving violence or weapons of any sort.
- 6. As a result of that conviction, he lost certain of his civil rights. (R.1:3)
- 7. Following Moran's successful early completion of his probation and having committed no further crime whatsoever in the ensuing 11 years, Moran petitioned the Governor of the Commonwealth of Virginia for a restoration of civil rights, which the Governor granted on March 15, 2006. (R.1:3-4; R.13:A.R.167; App. 6)
- 8. Virginia law requires a second step for the restoration of firearms rights. Following a gubernatorial grant of restoration of civil rights, a person must petition the circuit court and establish that he is capable of responsibly possessing a firearm. Moran did so and the Circuit Court of Loudoun County, Virginia, subsequently entered a final order on November 6, 2013 which recognized the governor's restoration of Moran's civil rights, found that Moran was capable of responsibly possessing a firearm, and specifically granted Moran a permit to possess or carry a firearm. (R.1:3-4; R.3; R.28:4, Ex. 1; App. 7-8)
- 9. Following the full restoration of his rights, Moran subsequently received and still retains a permit to carry a concealed handgun issued by the Commonwealth of Virginia. That permit was issued on November 27, 2013, and remains valid until November 26, 2018. (R.1:4; R.4; R.28:5, Ex. 2; App. 9)
- 10. Moran lawfully purchased firearms in the State of Virginia subsequent to the restoration of his civil rights and passed FBI NICS background checks without any problem or incident. (R.1:4; R.5; R.28:5, Ex. 4; App. 10-15)

- Moran has graduated from numerous firearm safety and training courses and has participated in firearms competitions in Virginia. (R.28:3)
- 12. On October 5, 2016, Moran attempted to purchase a firearm from a federally licensed firearms dealer in Wisconsin. He completed the appropriate background information forms and the federal firearms licensee (FFL) submitted that information to the Wisconsin DOJ. (R.1:4; R.28:3)
- 13. The Wisconsin DOJ denied approval of the sale of the firearm to Moran on October 5, 2016. Moran requested an administrative review of the handgun denial, and that was also denied based on Moran's prior conviction. (R.1:4-5; R. 6; App. 1)
- 14. Moran appealed that administrative review denial under Wis. Admin. Code Jus. 10.09(2) and the Wisconsin DOJ sustained the denial decision on October 26, 2016. (R.1:4-5; R.2; App. 2)

Further facts will be set forth as necessary below.

ARGUMENT

I. ARTICLE I, § 25 OF THE WISCONSIN CONSTITUTION AND THE SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION REQUIRE THE DOJ TO RECOGNIZE MORAN'S RIGHT TO KEEP AND BEAR ARMS IN WISCONSIN FOLLOWING THE COMPLETE RESTORATION OF HIS RIGHTS BY THE GOVERNOR AND COURTS OF VIRGINIA.

Summary of Argument

The right to keep and bear arms is a fundamental constitutional right and therefore subject to only very limited restrictions. One of those restrictions applies to the status of a felony conviction. However, once that status has been abrogated by official action, that person's fundamental constitutional right to keep and bear arms must be recognized and permitted.

The Second Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, § 25 of the Wisconsin Constitution did not create a right to keep and bear arms. Rather, those amendments "codified a pre-existing right. The very text of the Second Amendment implicitly recognizes the pre-existence of the right [to keep and bear arms]." Heller, supra at 592. More than 150 years ago, the United States Supreme Court held that "[t]his is not a right granted by the Constitution. Neither is it in any manner dependent upon that instrument for its existence." Id., quoting United States v. Cruikshank, 92 U.S. 542, 553, 23 L.Ed.2d 588 (1875). It is closely intertwined with the inherent right of selfdefense, which has been described as the first law of nature. Erickson v. McKay, 207 Wis. 497, 242 N.W. 133, 134 (1932). Heller noted that selfdefense is a basic right recognized by many legal systems from ancient times to the present day, stating that the "inherent right of self-defense has been central to the Second Amendment right." Heller, supra, at 628.

Wisconsin statutes must always be construed in accordance with the spirit and public policy of these constitutional mandates. The Wisconsin Supreme Court was emphatic about this principle:

> "Our conclusions must be guided . . . by the plain, simple, but authoritative and mandatory provisions of our own constitution. We made it ourselves . . . We must construe it and support it . . . according to its plain letter and meaning."

State ex rel. Owen v. Donald, 161 Wis. 21, 130, 151 N.W. 331 (1915) (internal citations omitted).

Giving appropriate consideration to the overriding constitutional authority requires this Court to reverse the decision of the DOJ which denied Moran's exercise of his fundamental rights.

II. THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT CLAUSE REQUIRES WISCONSIN TO RECOGNIZE MORAN'S RESTORED CIVIL AND FIREARM RIGHTS

Summary of Argument

The Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United States Constitution

obligates one state to honor the judgments of the courts of another state.

In order to assure that courts of one state honor the judgments of other

states, the framers of the Constitution made that requirement explicit in the

Full Faith and Credit Clause:

"Full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records, and judicial proceedings of every other state. And the congress may by general laws prescribe the manner in which such acts, records and proceedings shall be proved, and the effect thereof."

United States Constitution, Article IV, sec. 1; see also Pink v. AAA Highway <u>Exp.</u>, 314 U.S. 201, 210, 62 S.Ct. 241, 86 L.Ed. 152 (1941) (The purpose of the full faith and credit clause is to require states to recognize other states' judicial proceedings as valid.). The Clause is a crucial piece of the very foundation of our country. It was an essential mechanism in creating a "union" out of multiple sovereigns. The framers of the Constitution needed to unify a new country while at the same time ensuring that autonomy of the states was preserved.

When invoked to enforce a judgment, the court of the second state is obliged to fully recognize and honor the judgment of the first court in determining the enforceability of the judgment and the procedure for its execution. There are no specific Wisconsin cases dealing with the Full Faith and Credit Clause relating to the restoration of firearms rights in another state. That is likely because it has never needed to be litigated before because it is such a clear, important and essential Constitutional protection.

Although Virginia has a novel constitutional statutory scheme regarding restoration of rights which requires approval by both the governor and the circuit court, if anything it is more rigorous than a simple gubernatorial pardon and certainly is the functional equivalent of a pardon. Where a *more stringent* process is in place in Virginia than is required in Wisconsin to achieve the same ends, there is no logical legal argument to support exempting Wisconsin from the Full Faith and Credit Clause and allowing it to ignore the judgment of the Virginia court, which fully restored Moran's rights to possess a firearm. (R.1:3-4; R.3; R.28:4, Ex. 1; App. 7-8)

III. THE FIREARM OWNERS PROTECTION ACT ALLOWS MORAN TO KEEP AND BEAR ARMS IN WISCONSIN

Summary of Argument

The federal Firearm Owners Protection Act mirrors the Full Faith and

Credit Clause and requires all states to honor the restoration of a person's civil

rights in the jurisdiction in which the proceedings were held.

In 1986, Congress passed the Firearms Owners Protection Act (FOPA),

18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20)(B). The unambiguous language of the FOPA dictates

that Wisconsin must recognize and defer to Moran's civil rights restoration in

Virginia, the state in which he had been convicted and which had restored his

rights:

"What constitutes a conviction of such a crime shall be determined in accordance with the law of the jurisdiction in which the proceedings were held. Any conviction which has been expunged, or set aside or for which a person has been pardoned or has had civil rights restored shall not be considered a conviction for purposes of this chapter, unless such pardon, expungement, or restoration of civil rights expressly provides that the person may not ship, transport, possess, or receive firearms."

(emphasis added). The Wisconsin Attorney General interpreted FOPA and affirmed that this state must honor a restoration of rights granted by another state:

> "What constitutes a conviction of such crimes shall be determined in accordance with the law of the jurisdiction in which the proceedings were held. Any

conviction which has been expunged, or set aside or for which a person has been pardoned <u>or has had civil rights</u> <u>restored shall not be considered a conviction for</u> <u>purposes of this chapter</u>."

78 Op. Att'y Gen. 22, 23 (1989) (emphasis added) (R.8; R.12:A.R. 128-132; App. 16-20).

The language of both the federal statute and its interpretation by the Wisconsin Attorney General Opinion is mandatory, stating that the prior conviction in the Commonwealth of Virginia "**shall not**" be considered a conviction for purpose of acquiring and possessing a firearm in Wisconsin. This result is also required by the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, Article VI, Clause 2, discussed below.¹

IV. SECTION 941.29 OF THE STATUTES MUST BE CONSTRUED IN A COMMON-SENSE MANNER TO GIVE EFFECT TO ITS REMEDIAL PURPOSE, AS WELL AS THE PUBLIC POLICY OF THE STATE OF WISCONSIN

Summary of Argument

When enacted, Section 941.29 of the Wisconsin Statutes contemplated

the restoration of firearms rights to felons who were rehabilitated, pardoned,

¹ Although this appeal is from the administrative action of the DOJ, it should be noted that the circuit court's Decision (R.36; App. 3-5) affirming the DOJ's denial (R.2; R.12:A.R. 110, 139; App. 2) completely ignored the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, as well as the Opinion of the Attorney General. It also erroneously held that the "Firearm Owner's Protection Act requires expungement or a pardon." (R.36:3; App. 5) That Decision ignores the plain language of the FOPA broadening restoration of rights to not only a person who has been pardoned, but also to one who "has had civil rights restored." 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20)(B), <u>supra</u>.

or otherwise had their rights restored. This Court should construe Section 941.29 so as to permit Moran to exercise his right to possess a firearm consistent with the Constitution, the Full Faith and Credit Clause, and the Firearm Owners Protection Act.

The interaction between Section 941.29 of the Wisconsin Statutes and subsequent federal legislation and interpretation by the Wisconsin Attorney General resembles a Rubik's Cube. Their interplay is sometimes confusing and creates voids and conflicts that can only be resolved by one of the following interpretations of Section 941.29 urged by Moran.

A. The Restoration of Moran's Rights by the Commonwealth of Virginia Removes Moran From the Prohibition of Section 941.29(1m)(b), Stats.

The head of the DOJ is the Wisconsin Attorney General. When requested by the Governor to render a formal opinion on the effect of subsequent federal legislation to Section 941.29 of the Statutes, the Attorney General did not equivocate in his opinion that "any conviction . . . for which a person has had civil rights restored shall not be considered a conviction for purposes of this chapter." 78 Op. Att'y Gen. 22, 23 (1989). (R.8; R.28:8, Ex. 7; App. 16-20)

The Attorney General's thoughtful opinion went on to analyze the interplay between FOPA and state laws. It recognized that the Supremacy

Clause of the United States Constitution, Article VI, Clause 2, makes any state

law that conflicts with federal law void:

"There is no doubt Congress was aware of the potential impact of FOPA on existing state laws. ...

Congress explicitly recognized that the revisions contained in the FOPA may have a 'secondary effect' on state laws

Where the purpose of a federal statute cannot be accomplished or is otherwise frustrated by the presence of a state statute, the state statute is superseded by the federal authority to the extent of the conflict. <u>See Fidelity Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. de la Cuesta</u>, 458 U.S. 141, 153 (1982). To the extent that a state law actually conflicts with the federal law, the state law is nullified. <u>Oefinger v. Zimmerman</u>, 601 F. Supp. 405, 411 (W.D. Penn. 1984). This may occur in cases when state law becomes an 'obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of the federal enactment.' <u>Id.</u> at 411-12.

Section 941.29(5)(a) requires that the pardon expressly restore the felon's right to receive, possess or transport in commerce firearms. This requirement no longer exists in federal law. 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20). To the extent that the state law frustrates both the specific language and the intent of FOPA, the state statute is superseded by the federal law.

Statutes valid when enacted may also become unenforceable because of changes in the conditions to which the statutes apply. See Chastleton Corporation v. Sinclair, 264 U.S. 543 (1924). Here, the factual justification and basis for section 941.29(5)(a) - - the requirement of U.S.C. app. § 1203 that pardons expressly restore the right to receive, possess or transport in commerce firearms, no longer exists. 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20) has no such requirement. The house report on the history of FOPA indicates that it 'expanded the class of persons eligible for relief from the disabilities imposed under the [Gun Control] Act. It benefits persons who have been convicted of a crime . . . [and] have been subsequently determined to have reformed.' H.R. Rep. No. 495, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 5, reprinted in 1986 U.S. Code

Cong. & Admin. News 1327, 1331. The factual changes created by FOPA effectively render section 941.29(5)(a) unenforceable."

<u>Id.</u> at 24-26.

The identical situation and analysis pertains to the congressional invalidation of 18 U.S.C. \$ 925(c) and its relationship to Section 941.29(5)(b), Stats. Since 18 U.S.C. \$ 925(c) is no longer in effect, any reference to it in Section 941.29(5)(b), Stats., is also a nullity.

The plain language of the opinion of the Wisconsin Attorney General removes Moran entirely from the effect of Section 941.29, Stats. In other words, Section 941.29(1m)(b), Stats., does not apply to Moran. The administrative action of the DOJ denying Moran's application repudiated the explicit determination of the Wisconsin Attorney General. This Court should respect the Supremacy Clause as explained in that opinion of Wisconsin's chief law enforcement officer.

B. Section 941.29, Stats., Must be Interpreted and Applied in The Context of Then Existing Federal Law.

When Section 941.29(5) of the Wisconsin Statutes was enacted, the legislature relied on 18 U.S.C. App. § 1203 and 18 U.S.C. § 925(c), which are no longer in effect. The former 18 U.S.C. App. § 1203 was explicitly repealed and replaced by Public Law 99-308 § 104(b) on May 9, 1986, codified as 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20), the Firearm Owners Protection Act. As noted

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