RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-11-2018

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP0563

JAMES P. MORAN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE,

Respondent-Respondent.

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR CHIPPEWA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES M. ISAACSON PRESIDING, AFFIRMING AN ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

BRIAN P. KEENAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1056525

Attorneys for Respondent-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-0020 (608) 267-2223 (Fax) keenanbp@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Moran does not dispute that he "has been convicted of a crime elsewhere that would be a felony if committed in this state," Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(b), and that, as a result, he is barred from owning a firearm unless he satisfies Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5). There are two possible avenues under that subsection, and Moran satisfies neither. Moran does not satisfy section 941.29(5)(a) because he has not been

pardoned and does not satisfy section 941.29(5)(b) because he has not been relieved from disabilities under 18 U.S.C. § 925(c).

Moran fails in his attempt to avoid the plain language of the state statute by relying on constitutional provisions and federal law. The state and federal constitutional rights to bear arms do not override Wis. Stat. § 941.29 because precedent holds that states can bar felons from possessing firearms consistent with the right to bear arms. Regarding the Full Faith and Credit Clause, Virginia's restoration of Moran's right to possess a firearm under Virginia law does not require Wisconsin to recognize Moran's right to possess a firearm under Wisconsin law. Lastly, the Firearm Owners' Protection Act defines the scope of the federal ban on possessing firearms; it does not require any state to recognize the restoration of civil rights in another state.

I. Moran does not meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5).

Because Moran does not dispute that he "has been convicted of a crime elsewhere that would be a felony if committed in this state," Wis. Stat. § 941.29(1m)(b), he is barred from owning a firearm unless he meets the terms of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5). While Moran claims he meets the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5), he does not satisfy the plain language of either section 941.29(5)(a) or (b).

A. Moran does not satisfy Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) because he has not "received a pardon" for his crime.

Moran does not satisfy the first exception because he has not "received a pardon with respect to" his disqualifying felony conviction. Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a). Virginia law distinguishes between pardons, which Moran did not receive, and restorations of civil rights, which he did receive.

Virginia's prohibition on felons possessing firearms is codified at Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-308.2.A. Subsection B of that same statute provides that the "[t]he prohibitions of Subsection A shall not apply to . . . any person who has been pardoned." Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-308.2.B. Moran did not benefit from subsection B because the Virginia courts restored his right to possess a firearm under subsection C, (R. 13:13–14), which allows "[a]ny person prohibited from possessing . . . a firearm . . . under subsection A" to petition a Virginia circuit court "for a permit to possess or carry a firearm." Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-308.2.C. Clearly, Moran did not receive a pardon from the State of Virginia.

Recognizing that he was not pardoned, Moran incorrectly asserts that he can satisfy the exception because he received the "functional equivalent" of a pardon. (Moran Br. 16–18.) This contention asks the Court to abandon its role in a statutory interpretation case.

A court's role in statutory interpretation "begins with the language of the statute," and if the language is plain, then the inquiry stops. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Ct. for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoting Seider v. O'Connell, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 41, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659)). A court "may not substitute [its] judgment for that of the legislature," and thus "may not rewrite" a statute to say what a litigant wants it to say. City of Menasha v. WERC, 2011 WI App 108, ¶ 18, 335 Wis. 2d 250, 802 N.W.2d 531.

The statute requires a pardon; Moran did not receive one, even though Virginia does offer pardons. Va. Const. art. V, § 12 (granting governor power "to grant reprieves and pardons after conviction"). Here, the statute requires a pardon, so the inquiry stops once it is conceded that Moran has not obtained one.

If the Wisconsin Legislature had intended to include those who have had their rights restored in addition to those who have been pardoned, it easily could have said so in Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a). The federal Firearm Owners' Protection Act did just that in excluding certain convictions from the federal law, specifically those that have "been expunged, or set aside or for which a person has been pardoned or has had civil rights restored." 18 U.S.C. 921(a)(20)(B). The federal law would not make a distinction between a person who "has been pardoned" and one, like Moran, who "has had civil rights restored," id., if these two terms were the same thing and could be used interchangeably. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46 ("Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage."). Because a court "may not substitute [its] judgment for that of the legislature," this Court "may not rewrite" Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) to include both pardons and their functional equivalents. Menasha, 335 Wis. 2d 250, ¶ 18. Moran simply does not fit within the terms of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a).

Nor is Moran helped by the fact that Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) references 18 U.S.C. § 1203, a repealed federal statute. The exclusion in Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) has two elements: (1) a pardon and (2) an "express[] authoriz[ation] to possess a firearm" under 18 U.S.C. § 1203. Given that he does not meet the first element, a pardon, he does not meet the requirements of the exemption irrespective of how one would address the effect of 18 U.S.C. § 1203's repeal.

B. Moran does not satisfy the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b).

Moran also does not meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b) because he has not "obtained relief from disabilities under 18 USC 925(c)." Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b). As noted above, the federal government has

not funded program under which relief from disabilities under 18 U.S.C. § 925(c) was granted for many years.

That Congress has not funded this program does not affect the analysis. With the exception in Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b), the Legislature decided to allow felons who benefitted from a particular federal program to possess firearms. The federal government then stopped the program. Section 941.29(5)(b), in turn, ceased to have a practical effect. The Legislature, however, is under no obligation to create exemptions allowing felons to possess firearms, so the fact that the federal government stopped the program does not somehow entitle Moran to possess a firearm.

Moran suggests that the defunct federal program is, in some sense, similar to the relief he obtained in Virginia. (Moran Br. 14–16.) Putting aside the accuracy of that observation, it is irrelevant. The Legislature has not created an exception based on the Virginia process. Again, the courts have no power to rewrite the statute to grant an exemption to those who have obtained relief from a state procedure a litigant claims is similar to the federal procedure in 18 U.S.C. § 925(c).

C. The 1989 Attorney General Opinion does not grant Moran the right to possess a firearm.

The Attorney General opinion relied upon by Moran, 78 Op. Att'y Gen. 22 (1989), does not apply in this case because Moran has not been pardoned. The opinion was issued in response to a request by the Governor for advice on how the repeal of 18 U.S.C. § 1203 affected Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) and pardons granted by his office.

78 Op. Att'y Gen at 22–23, App. 016–17.¹ The opinion is not helpful in this case because it deals with an entirely different factual situation: those who received pardons but could not obtain relief from disabilities due to the repeal of 18 U.S.C. § 1203. The opinion cannot possibly grant Moran the right to possess a firearm because it applied the statute to those who have received pardons and, as shown above, Moran has not been pardoned.

In addition, the reasoning of the opinion is not persuasive in this case. Attorney General opinions are only persuasive authority. CityofMadisonDHS. 2017 WI App 25, ¶ 33, 375 Wis. 2d 203, 895 N.W.2d 844. This reasoning is not persuasive here because the opinion was drafted shortly after the repeal of 18 U.S.C. 1203. The opinion therefore offered an "interim interpretation" of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a), 78 Op. Att'y Gen. at 25, App. 019, that would apply "[p]ending corrective action by the Wisconsin legislature" to account for the repeal of 18 U.S.C. § 1203. Id. at 26 (quoting 1 Hammer and Donohoo, Substantive Criminal Law in Wisconsin 460 (1988)), App. 020. Irrespective of whether the opinion's reasoning was persuasive in 1989, it is no longer persuasive today. An "interim interpretation" that would apply "[p]ending the Wisconsin legislature." corrective action by 78 Op. Att'y Gen. at 25–26, App. 019–20, is not tenable thirty years after the change was made in federal law. The role of the courts is "to faithfully give effect to the laws" enacted by the legislature," and "to defer[] to the policy choices enacted into law by the legislature."

¹ While not applicable to this case, the Attorney General concluded that pardons granted by the Governor after November 15, 1986, would give the recipient the right to possess firearms unless the pardon expressly provided otherwise. *Id.* at 25–26, App. 019–20.

Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 44. After thirty years of non-action, the only reasonable conclusion is that the Legislature sees no need to "fix" or "update" the statute. Courts have no authority to substitute an interim interpretation to "fix" the statute for the Legislature.

In addition, Moran misrepresents the opinion in two ways. First, the Attorney General did not opine a person who had his civil rights restored would qualify for the exemption under Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a). (Moran Br. 12.) The opinion was merely quoting the revised language in 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20), which provides that a person with a conviction who "has had civil rights restored shall not be considered a conviction for purposes of this chapter." 78 Op. Att'y Gen. (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 921(a)(20)), App. 017. at 23As explained in Section IV below, the federal statute merely removes certain convictions from the federal felon-in-possession ban; it does not grant Moran or anyone else the right to possess a firearm in contravention of state law.

In addition, the opinion does not, as Moran claims (Moran Br. 15), address how to interpret Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b) following the federal government's decision to stop awarding relief from disabilities under 18 U.S.C. 925(c). The opinion only interprets Wis. § 941.29(5)(a). 78 Op. Att'y Gen. at 22, App. 016. The opinion nowhere recognizes Section 925(c)as (Moran Br. 15), nor could it have when the opinion was issued in 1989, but Congress did not stop funding the Section 925(c) program until 1992. (Moran Br. 15.) In any event, the opinion's reasoning would be just as unpersuasive as to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(b) as it is to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(5)(a) because the Legislature has not amended the statute even though it has had twenty-five years to do so following the federal government's decision to stop funding the program.

II. The state and federal constitutional rights to bear arms do not prevent laws prohibiting felons from possessing firearms.

Both federal and state courts agree that states can restrict felons from possessing firearms without violating the constitutional right to bear arms. This Court holds that felons can be barred from firearm possession consistent with of the Wisconsin Constitution. article I, section 25State v. Pocian, 2012 WI App 58, 341 Wis. 2d 380, 814 N.W.2d 894; State v. Thomas, 2004 WI App 115, 274 Wis. 2d 513, 683 N.W.2d 497. In fact, "the legislative history of the amendment clearly demonstrates that the intent of the sponsors of the amendment was to preserve the legislature's authority to restrict the possession of firearms felons." Thomas, 274 Wis. 2dby 513, 12. Article I, section 25 therefore cannot be read to allow a felon to possess a firearm when barred from doing so under Wis. Stat. § 941.29.

The federal likewise that the courts agree Second Amendment does not prevent restrictions on felons possessing firearms. The United States Supreme Court said that nothing in its opinion in District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 U.S. 570 (2008), which established an individual right to bear arms, "should be taken to cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons." Id. at 626. Thus, Heller, the sole authority that Moran cites in support of his Second Amendment argument, does not even support his argument. The Heller court could not have been clearer that felon-in-possession laws are consistent with the Second Amendment, even though it also recognized the arguments Moran makes about the amendment codifying a pre-existing right intertwined with the right of self-defense.

Given these precedents, the federal and state constitutions provide no justification for allowing Moran to possess a firearm.

III. The Full Faith and Credit Clause does not require Wisconsin to recognize Virginia's restoration of rights.

Wisconsin is not required to recognize the restoration of Moran's right to own a firearm in Virginia by the Full Faith and Credit Clause. The clause provides that "Full Faith and Credit shall be given in each State to the public Acts, Records, and judicial Proceedings of every other State." U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1. The order Moran received from the Virginia court restored his right to possess to carry a firearm in Virginia. It did not purport to give him the right to possess a firearm in any other state. As a result, there simply is no Full Faith and Credit problem with Wisconsin enforcing its prohibition against Moran.

Even if Virginia had purported to restore Moran's rights as to other states, the Full Faith and Credit Clause would not require Wisconsin to recognize Virginia's order. The United States Supreme Court holds that "[t]he Full Faith and Credit Clause does not compel 'a state to substitute the statutes of other states for its own statutes dealing with a subject matter concerning which it is competent to legislate." Baker v. Gen. Motors Corp., 522 U.S. 222, 232 (1998) (quoting Pacific Emp'rs Ins. Co. v. Indus. Accident Comm'n, 306 U.S. 493, 501 (1939)). Moran received an order from a Virginia court allowing him to carry a firearm in Virginia, issued under a Virginia statute that allows "[a]ny person prohibited from possessing, transporting, or carrying a firearm" to petition a circuit court "for a permit to possess or carry a firearm." Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-308.2.C. He cites no authority for the proposition that the Full Faith and Credit Clause requires every other state to recognize the Virginia permit; nor could he when his interpretation of the Full Faith and Credit Clause would force each state to substitute the Virginia statute for its own.

For this reason, Moran's Full Faith and Credit argument has been rejected by several courts on facts indistinguishable from this one. The California Court of Appeal rejected the argument of a defendant who had an Arizona felony conviction and had his right to possess a firearm restored in Arizona. People v. Shear. 83 Cal. Rptr. 2d 707, 710 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999). The court reasoned that the state's prohibition on felons possessing firearms "deals with 'a subject matter concerning which id.[California] is competent to legislate," 713 (alteration in original) (quoting Baker, 522 U.S. at 232), and was "the expression of [California]'s domestic policy, in terms declared to be exclusive in its application to persons and events within the state." Id. (alteration in original) (quoting Pacific Emp'rs, 306 U.S. at 502-03). Likewise, "California's 'significant contact' with defendant, a California resident, creates a 'state interest[], such that choice of its law is neither arbitrary nor fundamentally unfair." Id.(alteration in original) (quoting Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 818 (1985)). Lastly, "California's enforcement of the right conferred by the Arizona statute would be 'obnoxious to the public policy' of the forum." Id. (quoting Bradford Elec. Light Co. v. Clapper, 286 U.S. 145, 160 (1932)). Simply put, "[t]he Full Faith and Credit Clause does not preclude California from carrying out its public policy of prohibiting convicted felons within its borders from possessing firearms merely because defendant could lawfully possess firearms in Arizona." *Id.* at 714.

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